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Much has been made of the 
origins of the Central Intelligence 
Agency (CIA). Shrouded in myth, the 
notion of the CIA ushers forth images 
of skulking in back alleys and fight-
ing security threats in secrecy. Yet, to 
shield intelligence collection from the 
political maelstrom after World War 
II, the CIA needed quiet warriors who 
had mastered the art of bureaucratic 
diplomacy and understood the impli-
cations of effective intelligence and 
covert action. Not normally identified 
as a swashbuckling intelligence offi-
cer like Office of Strategic Services 
(OSS) Director William “Wild Bill” 
Donovan, RAdm. Sidney Souers 
served as a critical founder of the CIA 
even after his tour as the director of 
central intelligence (DCI) and direc-
tor of the Central Intelligence Group 
(CIG—the immediate successor of 
OSS) ended. Souers understood how 
to move within a bureaucracy to win 
battles through compromise, wielding 
power and influence with a heavy 
hand only when needed. He balanced 
creation of an apolitical intelligence 
agency with the demands of the early 
Cold War and an equally demanding 
White House.

Marking the 75th anniversary of 
the completion of Souers’s service as 
the first DCI (January 23, 1946–June 
10, 1946), this article commemorates 
his leadership, which set the foun-
dation for the modern CIA. Souers 

served as DCI for only six months, 
but his service to the agency extended 
well beyond his tenure in office.

One of Souers’s key contribu-
tions—one for which he has received 
little  credit—was the extension of 
CIA’s authority to include conduct of 
covert action alongside clandestine 
collection of foreign intelligence. 
This article addresses Souers’s central 
role in framing DCI and CIA authori-
ties by leveraging his network of con-
nections within the White House, the 
National Security Council (NSC), and 

the Office of the DCI. While critics 
of CIA’s covert action authority have 
voiced objections since the 1960s, 
the historic decision to have CIA take 
on that responsibility rested with the 
White House through Souers, who 
became the first executive secretary 
of the NSC after its creation in 1947.

Like many of his contemporaries, 
Souers understood the importance 
of accurate intelligence and focused 
covert action operations to meet 
the growing security challenges 
presented by the Soviet Union after 
World War II. The scholarly works on 
this subject underscore the prescience 
of the security planning of the period, 
which took place in the context of a 
developing US strategy of contain-
ing Soviet expansion. Soviet expert 
George Kennan had recognized 
the importance of covert action to 
address Soviet ambitions after WWII. 
Critical to his viewpoint, which was 
adopted by the White House, was 
that the conflict with the USSR was 
likely to be protracted and composed 
of multiple challenges to which 
the United States needed varied 
responses.1

Determination of which govern-
ment organization or agency would 
control covert undertakings lies at the 
heart of some current research that 
examines the evolution of CIA—in-
cluding its covert action function—
and focuses on the role of unelected 
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Sidney William Souers’s official Navy 
portrait. In private business, he had 
entered the US Navy Reserve shortly 
before WWII; he would be assigned to 
Naval Intelligence and by war’s end he 
was deputy director of naval intelli-
gence.
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officials in creating what some regard 
as a “flawed” national security struc-
ture. Much of this research attributes 
the expansion of CIA’s role to such 
decisionmakers during the period of 
bureaucratic restructuring between 
1945 and 1947 in which epic bu-
reaucratic politics affected decision-
making over broad areas of national 
security interests and structures.

The unelected figures involved 
were senior officials such as the 
secretaries of war, navy, and state, 
who could make decisions and reach 
agreements often shrouded in mys-
tery to create the specific arrange-
ments of national security institutions 
that had been mandated by legislative 
and top elected officials.2

In these studies, figures like 
Donovan tend to dominate the 
discussion about the original fram-
ing of CIA. But President Harry 
Truman rejected Donovan’s plan for a 
centralized intelligence organization 
in 1945. Donovan and his support-
ers tried to revive his plan between 
1945 and 1947, but Truman’s lack 
of support left Donovan open to 
bureaucratic attacks from the armed 
services and the Department of State. 
Scholarship focusing on the Donovan 
Plan as the foundation of the CIA 
overlooks critical players within 
Truman’s circle who killed the Plan 
and supplanted it.

Richard Schroeder defied this 
trend in scholarship by examining the 
network of Missourians who sur-
rounded Truman during the creation 
of the CIA. Schroeder highlighted 
enduring contacts that linked unlikely 

leaders within the executive branch to 
one another. Truman relied heavily on 
unelected officials he knew, such as 
Souers, White House Counsel Clark 
Clifford, and Chief of Staff Admiral 
William Leahy, or those in whom he 
had confidence because of their work, 
such as Secretary of Defense James 
Forrestal.3 

Likewise, former CIA analyst 
David Rudgers examined key advi-
sors to Truman such as Harold Smith, 
the director of the Bureau of the 
Budget, who had the inglorious task 
of advising Donovan of Truman’s 
decision to disband the OSS and de-
vising the way in which branches of 
the OSS would be divided among the 
armed services and the Department of 
State. Rudgers also echoed the point 
about Clifford’s importance in work-
ing through the legislative process 
to create the CIA. Clifford leveraged 
the required skills of persuasion, 
manipulation, and compromise when 
dealing with the personalities in the 
national security community execut-
ing Truman’s demands.4

Despite this evolving scholarship, 
Souers remains somewhat of an enig-
matic figure. Rudgers acknowledged 
Souers as a “sagacious man, skilled at 
getting people to work together” but 
relegated him to the sidelines of the 
discussions in which he participated.5 
Arthur Darling highlighted Souers’s 
activities but gave more credit to 
the bolder leadership style of DCI 
Hoyt Vandenberg, Souer’s successor, 
over the more conciliatory Souers.6 
Conciliation, however, was necessary 
to bring together the personalities that 

created the national security structure 
between 1945 and 1947.

Souers played a critical role in 
facilitating through quiet compromise 
among senior executive branch offi-
cials the implementation of Truman’s 
vision of a restructured US national 
security organization. Central to his 
accomplishment was the identifica-
tion of CIA’s authority over covert 
action as complementary to CIA’s 
responsibility for foreign clandestine 
intelligence operations. 

In general, the overarching 
foreign policy concern of thwarting 
the communist threat in Europe led 
these officials to understand the value 
of intelligence collection. By 1947, 
intelligence collection was a coveted 
mission that inspired stiff opposition 
to centralized reporting and analysis. 
The issue of covert action encouraged 
no similar inspiration; few wanted to 
claim control over it. Souers would 
ultimately build and use his network 
to frame within the new National 
Security Council the DCI’s and CIA’s 
authorities for clandestine intelli-
gence collection and covert action.

Souers, Quiet Leadership, 
and Network Influences

 As the assistant director and 
deputy chief of naval intelligence, 
Souers was no stranger to navigating 
the difficult waters of restructuring 
postwar intelligence organizations; he 
had been involved in the examination 
of intelligence organizations imme-
diately after Truman had disbanded 
OSS and, as seen in his December 
1945 memorandum to Cifford, had 
made the argument against a State 
Department proposal that it assume 
central intelligence duties.7 Soon 
after, in January 1946, Souers was 

Souers played a critical role in facilitating through quiet 
compromise among senior executive branch officials the 
implementation of Truman’s vision of a restructured US 
national security organization.
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offered and agreed to serve as the 
interim DCI for six months. 

Souers’s tenure is often over-
looked because it lasted only six 
months, and his accomplishments 
seemed limited. In his short tenure 
he was heavily focused on establish-
ing the internal structure of the CIG. 
His initial attention was given to 
addressing the president’s demands 
for a daily summary of interna-
tional events and unified analysis of 
intelligence. Souers spent the bulk 
of his time negotiating cooperation 
with the national security leadership. 
All the while, Souers became acutely 
aware of the impossibility of his task 
without a budget or the authority to 
compel cooperation from officials 
who opted not to provide the DCI 
with intelligence required for the 
president’s daily summaries.8

By the time Souers’s DCI/CIG 
term ended in June 1946, the chal-
lenges he experienced had made a 
significant impression on him. At 
the end of his tenure, Souers argued 
that in order for CIG to function 
effectively, a budget was needed for 
operational activity, either within 
a separate agency or as part of the 
broader national security structure. In 
June 1946, the CIG was little more 
than a coordinating body with no 
statutory authority to operate outside 
of National Intelligence Authority 
(NIA) directives.a, 9 These concerns 
would animate Vandenberg’s attempts 
during the following year to change 
the way the CIG operated.

a. The NIA was essentially a body created 
to coordinate intelligence activity in the US 
government. In addition to the DCI, it was 
composed of the secretaries of state, war 
and the navy.

Contrary to the oft-cited errone-
ous accounts of his career, Souers 
did not retire from CIG and return to 
businesses in St. Louis after serving 
as DCI. Instead, he returned to active 
duty in the Navy and took a position 
as one of Forrestal’s undersecretaries 
in the Department of the Navy, a post 
Souers recalled that Truman most 
likely obtained for him.10 Souers’s 
ongoing connections to individuals 
like Truman assured his importance 
as an unelected official facilitating the 
development of the nascent intelli-
gence community. His own state-
ments about his career downplayed 
the critical aspects of his influence 
between 1945 and 1947 and tended 
to undermine understanding of his 
importance to the evolving national 
security structure. 

For example, Souers claimed he 
never met Truman until he became 
DCI, yet Souers later referred to the 
president as someone he knew casu-
ally in 1945.11 Souers stressed that 
his primary contact with the White 
House before January 1946 was 
Forrestal, who became Secretary of 
Defense in 1947 after the abolition of 
his Navy Department. Forrestal and 
Souers had a longstanding relation-
ship linked to their business careers 
prior to federal service. Souers cred-
ited Forrestal with obtaining for him 
the post of deputy director of naval 
intelligence Director Thomas Inglis.12

From ONI, Souers “brought an 
influential voice” when he wrote a 
memo for Forrestal about a Joint 
Chiefs of Staff (JCS) plan for a cen-
tralized intelligence agency.13 Souers 
claimed he wrote the December 27, 
1945 memo at the request of Truman; 
in it he made the case to the presi-
dent’s counsel Clark Clifford for the 
JCS plan. In weighing proposals from 

Sidney William Souers

1892 (March 30): Born, Dayton, Ohio

1911–12: Attended Purdue University

1914: A.B., Miami University of Ohio

1920�–25: President, Mortgage & Se-
curities Company, New Orleans

1925�–26: Executive, Piggly Wiggly 
Stores, Memphis

1925�–30: Executive Vice President, 
Canal Bank & Trust Company, 
New Orleans

1930�–33: Vice President, Missouri 
State Life Insurance Company, 
St. Louis

1933�–73: Executive, General Ameri-
can Life Insurance Company

1940�–46: Officer on active duty, US 
Naval Reserve, rising to the 
rank of Rear Admiral

1944�–46: Deputy Director and 
Deputy Chief, Office of Naval 
Intelligence

1946� (January 23–June 10): Director 
of Central Intelligence, Central 
Intelligence Group

1947�–50: Executive Secretary, Na-
tional Security Council

1950�–53: Special consultant to 
President Harry S. Truman on 
military and foreign Affairs

1973� (January 14): Died, St. Louis, 
Missouri

Source: National Archives, Harry 
S. Truman Library and Museum at: 
https://www.trumanlibrary.gov/library/
personal-papers/sidney-w-souers-pa-
pers#folder
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the JCS and Department of State, 
Souers concluded that the JCS plan 
seemed “more likely to provide the 
President with unbiased intelligence, 
derived from all available sources, 
and approved by . . . all three depart-
ments . . . primarily concerned with 
foreign policy,” the Departments of 
State, War, and Navy. Souers con-
cluded his evaluation by pointing out 
that the JCS plan anticipated “a full 
partnership between the three depart-
ments, created and operated in the 
spirit of free consideration, and with a 
feeling of a full share of responsibil-
ity for its success.”14

The points about partnership and 
shared responsibility struck at the 
heart of concerns in the White House 
for a unified national security struc-
ture. These were expressed in the 
instruction President Truman gave to 
the State Department on September 
20, 1945 to “create a comprehensive 
and coordinated foreign intelligence 
program.”15 Forrestal submitted 
Souers’s memo to the White House 
to make the case for the JCS plan.16 
The memo had the desired effect. 
On January 9, 1946, Truman held 
an “off the record” meeting in the 

White House to ensure 
consensus among the 
armed forces and the 
Department of State. In 
attendance were Souers, 
Leahy, Clifford, Naval 
Aide to the President 
Cdre. James Vardaman, 
and BGen. Harry 
Vaughan, military aide to 
the president.17 Before the 
meeting, Secretary to the 
President Matt Connelly 
had called Director of 
the Bureau of the Budget 
Smith to advise him that 
a meeting about intelli-
gence matters was about 

to happen, and Smith immediately 
joined. Neither the Departments 
of War nor State were represented, 
although Souers claimed the Army 
backed the JCS plan.18

The discussion by supporters of 
the JCS plan implied that intelligence 
could not be handled by the State 
Department because it was too weak. 
In contrast, Smith highlighted the 
situation in Latin America, where 
he claimed officers from the FBI, 
Army, and Navy were falling over 
themselves in intelligence activity. 
He stressed that organization of 
intelligence activity was key and 
warned that leaving decisions about 
dividing up intelligence work among 
each other was likely to lead to “the 
worst possible compromise results.” 
Moreover, he urged getting to a “clear 
understanding of what kind of intelli-
gence was being discussed.”19 Souers 
noted that Smith claimed Secretary of 
State James Byrnes did not support 
the JCS plan, a position Souers re-
jected based on his interactions with 
Forrestal in which Byrnes had agreed 
to the JCS plan privately.20 Leahy 
characterized Smith’s objections as 

“instigated by the Department of 
State.”21

Leahy’s criticism had merit. Smith 
asked Col. Alfred McCormack, a 
former Army intelligence officer who 
by then was the secretary of state’s 
special assistant for research and 
intelligence, to work on the State 
Department’s proposal. Before the 
next meeting on the intelligence 
organization, Smith provided a copy 
of McCormack’s report to Special 
Counsel to the President Samuel 
Rosenman and noted that State was 
not scheduled to be at the meeting 
and cautioned him to use it only for 
background information. Glum in the 
exchange, Smith characterized intel-
ligence as “one of the most far-reach-
ing problems of interdepartmental 
coordination” the administration 
faced.22

The discussions in the next 
meeting were in line with Souers’s 
recollection that the JSC plan was 
something the president “had been 
wanting to do for a long time.”23 The 
second meeting on January 12, 1946 
at the White House included Souers, 
Leahy, Vaughan, Vardaman, Clifford, 
Smith, and Rosenman.24 Again no 
representatives of the Departments 
of State or War were present. This 
meeting outlined the new structure 
of the intelligence community based 
on the JCS plan, including Truman’s 
identification of Souers as the DCI. 
Truman’s decision was documented 
in the January 22, 1946 Presidential 
Directive creating the CIG and NIA.25

These  events underscore Souers’s 
direct contact with Truman during 
discussions that influenced the pres-
ident’s approval of the 1946 presi-
dential directive. Souers’s network of 
contacts through Leahy and Clifford 

As secretary of the navy, James Forrestal was a member 
of Harry Truman’s cabinet, shown here in August 1945. 
Forrestal is sitting on the far right. White House photo.
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eventually became a well-worn path 
as the structure of the US intelligence 
evolved between June 1946 and 
1947, after Souers had completed his 
term as DCI. Clifford, in discussing 
Truman’s decision to appoint Souers 
as DCI, commented, “the relationship 
[with Souers] was valuable and the 
CIA grew and flourished under his 
leadership.” (Clifford misremembered 
here: there was no CIA when Souers 
was appointed.)26

The Atomic Energy Com-
mission and Intelligence

That Souers continued to lever-
age his White House contacts 
became further evident as discus-
sions emerged on how to implement 
Vandenberg’s plan on atomic energy 
intelligence during the summer of 
1946. Vandenberg (DCI, June 10, 
1946–May 1, 1947), with a person-
ality diametrically opposite to that 
of Souers, focused his directorship 
on expanding the authorities of the 
CIG at the expense of other national 
security officials and in contrast 
to Souers’s more conciliatory 
tone.  While praised for his drive, 
Vandenberg quickly became mired 
in bureaucratic infighting. Unafraid 
of addressing confrontational is-
sues head on, Vandenberg trained 
his attention on the atomic energy 
intelligence controlled by the Foreign 
Intelligence Branch of the Army’s 
Manhattan Engineer District.27

The issue of atomic intelligence 
became a primary issue for the White 
House, and debate over the subject 
highlighted the disconnect within the 
national security structure. Driving 
the intelligence concern was the need 
to know how far the Soviet Union 
had come in making its own atomic 
bomb so US intelligence would 
avoid an “atomic Pearl Harbor.” 

Vandenberg appealed to the NIA to 
assign the CIG coordinating control 
over atomic intelligence on August 
13, 1946 in a draft NIA Directive 
6.28 In doing so, he placed the need 
to expand CIG authorities in a turf 
war with the Army, which viewed 
Vandenberg’s move as duplicating 
efforts. The proposed draft also 
included a controversial proposal to 
send three intelligence officers and 
files on uranium deposits to CIG. 
The Army and State Department thus 

became unified against the nascent 
CIG. Although the NIA had been ap-
proved on August 21, 1946, Truman 
delayed its implementation.29 It re-
mained stalemated in heated debates 
until 1947. The personnel transfer 
would not occur until February 12, 
1947,30 and takeover of the atomic 
energy document collection finally 
occurred as a result of a meeting on 
April 18, 1947.31 

The slow implementation of 
NIA 6 underscored the continuing 
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refusal of the intelligence agencies to 
coordinate with the CIG, a problem 
that brought Admiral Souers back 
into the picture. After the  initial 
failure to devise a satisfactory coor-
dination plan, AEC Commissioner 
RAdm. Lewis Strauss asked 
Souers to investigate and report his 
recommendations.32 

Enter another admiral as DCI
Another naval officer, RAdm. 

Roscoe Hillenkoetter replaced 
Vandenberg in the spring of 1947. 
He began his DCI tenure (May 1, 
1947–October 7, 1950) by adopting 
Souers’s leadership style with respect 
to the AEC. Two weeks after his 
appointment, Hillenkoetter wrote to 
Souers, who immediately wrote back 
to welcome Hillenkoetter and offered 
his assistance. In the letter, Souers 

also alluded to “some special work” 
that would bring him to Washington 
for a month—this is most likely an 
allusion to the AEC issue.

Indeed in his investigation, true 
to his manner, Souers worked in 
coordination with Hillenkoetter and 
avoided areas of confrontation with 
the armed services and Department of 
State. From early June until August 7, 
1947, Souers and Hillenkoetter spoke 
often about AEC issues, sometimes 
communicating more than once a 
day. On June 3, 1947, Hillenkoetter, 
Souers, and Strauss discussed coor-
dination between the AEC and CIG. 
That summer, Hillenkoetter explained 
in a staff meeting that his meetings 
with Souers focused on helping the 
AEC with its intelligence collection 
and analysis capability, with Souers 
devising AEC and CIG coordination 
procedures.33

By July 1, 1947, after coordi-
nation with Hillenkoetter, Souers 
had completed his report and, true 
to his conciliatory style, opted not 
to address the evaluation of atomic 
energy intelligence sources. The CIG 
needed the information about the 
sources to evaluate the reporting, but 
the request required the AEC to open 
sensitive files that would reveal US 
Army sources. Rather than start a 
fight, Souers argued for elevating the 
role of the AEC in the NIA structure 
rather than forcing CIG control over 
the AEC. He recommended that

•  the AEC be made a permanent 
member of the Intelligence Advi-
sory Board (IAB) within the NIA,

•  a director of intelligence position 
be created in the AEC, and

•   permission be given to have the 
new intelligence director sit on the 
IAB.34 

The move built goodwill with the 
AEC and led to the sharing of AEC 
reporting and eventually the identifi-
cation of sources.

Efforts to formalize the new 
AEC intelligence unit commenced 
almost immediately and in earnest. 
Hillenkoetter approved the new unit 
based on a paper AEC Chairman 
David Lilienthal had prepared. 
Hillenkoetter and Souers communi-
cated daily about the progress of the 
unit’s establishment, even discuss-
ing suggestions about who its chief 
should be. Souers favored his old 
boss at ONI, Commodore Inglis. 
Ultimately, another Navy flag officer, 
RAdm. John Gingrich received the 
appointment. The AEC intelligence 
unit was approved in late July,  with 
Hillenkoetter and Souers having 
working seamlessly together.35 

The National Security Act of 1947
That level of coordination be-

tween Souers and Hillenkoetter 
exemplified the close working 
relationships mandated by the NIA, 
but Souers and Hillenkoetter collabo-
rated on other issues as well. In June 
Hillenkoetter brought Souers into 
matters raised during then ongoing 
negotiations about the content of the 
National Security Act of 1947 (H.R. 
2319). For example, Hillenkoetter 
asked Souers to comment on a letter 
Hillenkoetter had written in response 
to issues raised by a military officers’ 
professional association, the Reserve 
Officers of the Naval Services 
(RONS). The association, which 
claimed to advocate on behalf of 
36,000 reserve naval officers (Navy, 
Marine, and Coast Guard), among 

Hillenkoetter, in front on the far right, 
standing next to his replacement, Walter 
Bedell Smith. Undated CIA file photo.



﻿

The Quiet Warrior

﻿Studies in Intelligence Vol. 65, No. 2 (Extracts, June 2021) 7

whom Souers and Strauss could 
count themselves, inserted itself into 
deliberations about the act.36 

Hillenkoetter reached out to 
several officials and, on June 12, he 
agreed to meet RONS representa-
tive Minor Hudson. The comments 
on which Souers consulted with 
Hillenkoetter were thus likely to have 
been contained in the letter submitted 
to the reponsible House committee 
on July 2, 1947 by RONS President 
John Braken. Braken recommended 
changes in the wording of H.R. 2319 
to allow any commissioned officer 
to be considered for service as DCI 
provided the officer resigned his 
commission before taking office and 
the CIA “shall have no police, law 
enforcement, or internal security 
function.”37 Both caveats and ref-
erences to the DCIA’s salary were 
included in the final bill.

After the passage of the National 
Security Act, interactions between 
Hillenkoetter and Souers continued. 
On August 18, Souers contacted 
Hillenkoetter about an offer he had 
received to become the executive 
secretary of the NSC. During the 
call, Souers asked Hillenkoetter for 
his permission to have James Lay, 
the CIG director of the Office of 
Reports and Estimates (ORE), join 
Souers at the NSC. Lay had previ-
ously worked for Souers, and the 
new NSC executive secretary wanted 
Lay to  brief him on international 
events. Hillenkoetter agreed to lend 
Lay to the NSC.38 Upon arriving at 
the NSC in August 1947, Lay became 
Souers’s assistant executive secretary. 
The calls between Hillenkoetter and 
Souers into late August 1947 demon-
strated Hillenkoetter’s importance as 
a node in Souers’s network. 

Perhaps even more interesting 
was how and why Souers became 
the NSC executive secretary. Newly 
appointed Secretary of Defense 
Forrestal recommended Souers for 
the position. Presumably because 
of their earlier relationships and 
Souers’s support of the JCS plan 
to centralize intelligence, Forrestal 
thought Souers would be more apt to 
favor a close NSC relationship with 
the military. Forrestal had been a pro-
ponent of an NSC structure that re-
sembled the British Imperial Defense 
Council in 1908. In that arrangement, 
a security council would report to 
the secretary of defense, who then 
briefed the president. Forrestal was at 
odds with Truman on this construct 
because the president favored an NSC 
separate from the armed forces that 
answered to the White House.39 

Forrestal had apparently con-
cluded that Souers would run the 
NSC in ways closer to his vision. If 
that is what he believed, he would 
learn that he was mistaken when 
Souers agreed with the White House 
plan. Souers viewed the NSC as 
an “advisory mechanism to the 
President.” Moreover, he viewed 
the NSC’s role to be a “coordinating 
agency” to help the president weigh 
the factors needed for foreign policy 
decision making.40 No doubt Truman 
was aware of Souers’s views on the 
NSC prior to approving Forrestal’s 
recommendation. The president per-
suaded Souers to take the position as 
“a personal favor” to him.41 Having 
Souers hold the NSC position placed 
the NSC squarely under the presi-
dent’s authority and set the stage for 

the development of CIA authorities 
by the White House through the NSC.

Souers’s NSC assignment and 
his regular communications with 
Hillenkoetter illustrated the range 
of Souers’s activities during the 
early formative period of the mod-
ern national security structure. As a 
result, it should be no surprise that 
Hillenkoetter and Souers continued 
their coordination after the offi-
cial creation of the NSC and CIA. 
Hillenkoetter built on Vandenberg’s 
work by following Souers’s guidance 
on how to navigate in the national se-
curity bureaucracy to manage White 
House demands.

What emerged from this collab-
oration, however, was not the CIA 
Hillenkoetter had envisioned. Souers 
pursued a compromise in which 
he straddled what was needed for 
the CIA to operate effectively and 
Truman’s demand for a unified na-
tional security structure.

Souers, Hillenkoetter, and the 
Battle over CIA’s Mandate

Coordination between 
Hillenkoetter and Souers intensified 
in September and October 1947 
with heated debates about the new 
CIA’s authorities. For example, on 
September 22, 1947, Souers called 
Hillenkoetter to explain how he 
planned to deal with three memos 
Hillenkoetter had submitted for 
NSC consideration. Souers agreed 
to advance the two dealing with 
NIA and CIG directives, but, with 
Hillenkoetter’s concurrence, he with-
held one about the IAB.42 The two 

Forrestal had apparently concluded that Souers would 
run the NSC in ways closer to his vision. If that is what he 
believed, he would learn that he was mistaken. . .
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memos Souers put forward kept in 
force existing NIA and CIG direc-
tives, in effect maintaining the status 
quo and ensuring the intelligence 
coordination function of CIA until the 
authorities of the DCI and CIA were 
more fully defined.43

The memo Souers convinced 
Hillenkoetter to withdraw was 
significant. Hillenkoetter had taken 
the initiative with the new NSC to 
suggest an agenda for the first NSC 
meeting, recommendations he sent to 
the secretary of state, the armed ser-
vices, and Souers on September 11, 
1947.44 Based, Hillenkoetter wrote, 
on legal guidance, he advised the IAB 
that he neither required consent nor 
participation of the IAB in the DCI’s 
decisionmaking. Hillenkoetter ex-
pressed his preference to have State, 
the armed services, and the AEC sit 
in on discussions on intelligence is-
sues within the new NSC structure.45 
Unfortunately, the authorities for the 
DCI and CIA did not yet formally 
exist, having only been passed by 
Congress on July 26, 1947; the NSC 
had been stood up only the day before 
Hillenkoetter sent the memo.

Souers, in turn, having expe-
rienced the creation of the CIG, 
accurately foresaw the storm that 
Hillenkoetter’s memo would pro-
voke. As in the past, Souers sought to 
minimize contention while building 
consensus. With the  IAB issue off 
the table in its inaugural meeting on 
September 26, 1947, the NSC passed 
without dissent the decision to work 
through DCI and CIA authorities, 
among other structural issues, within 
60 days.46 Between the first NSC 
meeting and the next, Souers worked 
in earnest with Lay to draft the 

authorities of the DCI and CIA, all 
with Hillenkoetter’s consent.47

The question of IAB’s role within 
the NSC-CIA structure could not be 
long avoided because it sat at the 
heart of the issue of broader CIA 
statutory authorities. Specifically, 
the 1946 presidential directive that 
established the CIG and the NIA also 
created the IAB. The IAB provided 
advice to the DCI and consisted of 
the heads of the principal military and 
civilian intelligence agencies.48 

As a coauthor with Clark Clifford 
of the 1946 directive, Souers would 
have known its meaning and intent.49 
As a result, he was sensitive to cabi-
net members’ views of the IAB’s role 
in the national intelligence structure. 
When he took over as DCI, Souers 
knew that officials resisted central-
ization of intelligence as threaten-
ing their authority. At the time, the 
absence of specific legislation cast 
doubt on the CIG’s mandate.50 The 
DCI’s activities had been governed 
by IAB guidance, placing the secre-
taries of state and the armed services 
in coordination and oversight roles 
over the DCI.

What Hillenkoetter sought was 
to invert the IAB structure and shift 
power to CIA’s statutory oversight 
role. To accomplish this, he needed 
Souers’s help to maneuver around the 
powers of the secretaries of state and 
the armed services.

Beginning the Case 
for Covert Action

During the battle over the IAB, 
Hillenkoetter monitored a grow-
ing interest in “psychological 

warfare operations.” A subcommit-
tee of the State-Army-Navy-Air 
Force Coordinating Committee 
(SANACC)—a group established in 
1944 to consider postwar reconstruc-
tion and political issues and that was 
to become an advisory committee 
in the NSC—had developed a plan 
for postwar psychological warfare. 
By October 1947, recognition had 
emerged that SANACC had no au-
thority to examine peacetime psycho-
logical warfare, but on October 21, 
1947, Hillenkoetter advised his staff 
of the renewed interest in psycholog-
ical warfare and noted that the NSC 
had approved such activities. Who 
would lead such efforts had not been 
determined, however. Hillenkoetter 
noted in his diary that CIA may not 
want to take on another function, but 
it might be directed to do so.51

The following day, Hillenkoetter 
left open the question of CIA’s 
involvement in psychological war-
fare. In a memo to the SANACC 
on October 22, 1947, Hillenkoetter 
acknowledged the need for immedi-
ate progress on such activities while 
recognizing the ongoing debate 
within the national security struc-
ture about what organization should 
coordinate covert action operations. 
He recommended deferring any deci-
sion, but he added that he planned to 
recommend that the responsibility fall 
to the JCS.52

Undoubtedly, part of Hillen-
koetter’s rationale came from 
legal guidance he had received 
on September 25, 1947. General 
Counsel Lawrence Houston pro-
vided the DCI advice on CIA’s 
involvement in “black propaganda” 
and “commando type functions.” 
Houston warned that CIA’s involve-
ment in covert action “taken out of 

The following day, Hillenkoetter left open the question of 
CIA’s involvement in psychological warfare.
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context and without knowledge of its 
history . . . could bear almost unlim-
ited interpretation, provided the ser-
vice performed could be shown to be 
of benefit to an intelligence agency 
or related to national intelligence.” 

Houston continued, saying these 
operations “would be an unwarranted 
extension of the functions” of the CIA 
under the National Security Act of 
1947. He reminded Hillenkoetter that 
Congress had not even authorized 
CIA to conduct overseas collection 
activities, which, by extension led 
Houston to conclude there was likely 
no thought “in the minds of Congress 
that the [CIA] under this authority 
would take positive action for subver-
sion and sabotage.” Houston con-
cluded that any activity undertaken 
with respect to covert action must be 
approved by Congress.53

Houston’s caution notwithstand-
ing, Hillenkoetter understood the 
pressure for psychological operations 
at the same time he fought for author-
ity over foreign clandestine intelli-
gence collection. In the latter fight, he 
enlisted Souers’s assistance. Souers 
was in an optimal position to over-
come any inertia against implemen-
tation of the NSC and intelligence 
restructuring. Through October 1947, 
fighting intensified over the authori-
ties of the CIA, focusing on the need 
for a subcommittee within the NSC 
to operate as the IAB had. Souers 
and Hillenkoetter flatly rejected the 
ineffective IAB-CIG structure.

In late October 1947, Souers and 
Hillenkoetter resumed their almost 
daily meetings as Hillenkoetter 
addressed both the battle for CIA’s 
control over foreign intelligence col-
lection operations and demands that 
he address the issue of psychological 

operations. On October 28, 1947, 
Hillenkoetter told his staff that 
interest in psychological operations 
continued and added that CIA was 
likely to be called on to furnish 
data to support them. The next day, 
Hillenkoetter received a call inform-
ing him that a directive assigning 
additional functions, like psycholog-
ical warfare, to the DCIA’s advisory 
responsibility had been approved.54 
The battle over authorities for DCI 
and CIA heated up with increased 
bureaucratic resistance. In this battle, 
the DCI had behind him the National 
Security Act of 1947, Souers and 
the latter’s connections in the White 
House, and Secretary of Defense 
Forrestal.

Forrestal’s involvement in the ex-
pansion of CIA authorities was ironic. 
As secretary of the navy, Forrestal 
championed shared responsibility for 
intelligence collection and backed a 
decentralized CIG structure. Clark 

Clifford claimed Truman selected 
Forrestal to be defense secretary in 
September 1947 because Truman 
believed Forrestal would “sit back 
and carve [another] to ribbons,”55 
likely ensuring the failure of the 
new structure from any other posi-
tion. Later Truman felt justified in 
having selected Forrestal when he 
came to the president apologetically 
about how weak the previous system 
had made the secretary of defense. 
Forrestal pledged to work with the 
White House to fix it.56 Working 
closely with Souers, Forrestal became 
a critical player in overcoming the 
inertia that had left unresolved the 
definition of the IAB’s role in the new 
national security structure.

Disagreement over CIA 
Authorities Boils Over

The alliance between 
Hillenkoetter, Souers, and Forrestal 

A meeting of the NSC on August 19, 1948. Souers is the second from the left. Hillenkoetter 
is the last figure to the left of the table. Truman is second from the right. To his right are 
Secretary of State George Marshall and Secretary of Defense Forrestal. White House photo.
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proved imperative when disagree-
ments between the DCI and the 
armed forces boiled over during an 
IAB meeting on November 20, 1947.  
Hillenkoetter opened the meeting 
with a summary of its purpose and 
an expression of hope that agreement 
could be reached that day.

At the first meeting of National 
Security Council on Septem-
ber 26, they said we would 
continue  the NIA Directives for 
60 days. We will have to submit 
some new ones on the 26th of 
this month. We sent a memoran-
dum to the agencies on October 
9 asking for any suggestions 
and to please let us know. We 
got a little help from the State 
Department. They came through 
with some suggestions. Today I 
don’t know how long it will take 
to get an agreement on the four 
NSC directives. We will try to 
finish those at least so we can 
send those in, Is that all right?

Almost immediately it became 
clear that Hillenkoetter’s hopes 
would not be achieved. The first 
to speak, Special Assistant to the 
Secretary of State for Research and 
Intelligence W. Park Armstrong said 
he could not represent the depart-
ment, whose head had yet to weigh 
in. Hillenkoetter then came under 
fire from Chief of Naval Intelligence 
Inglis and the Army’s G-2, Maj.Gen. 
Stephen Chamberlin, regarding the 
roles of the intelligence chiefs in the 
NSC system vice the roles of the 
departmental secretaries in the IAB. 
Chamberlin complained he could not 
turn off and on his responsibilities at 

someone else’s command, admitting 
that he was unprepared to discuss the 
papers before them. Maj.Gen. George 
McDonald, director of Air Force 
Intelligence, echoed the sentiment. 
Hillenkoetter fell back to suggesting 
that an ad hoc committee be formed 
to review the NSC directives. IAB 
officials then began arguing over the 
validity of an ad hoc committee and 
the need to complete deliberations so 
quickly.57 

McDonald asked for an  exten-
sion of the deadline, a proposal 
Hillenkoetter rebuffed by suggesting 
the IAB adjourn to allow a subcom-
mittee to begin work to meet the 
November deadline. Protests again 
followed about whether a subcom-
mittee not formally designated in the  
National Security Act of 1947 could 
undertake such work. Members also 
picked at the proposed directives as 
driving wedges between intelligence 
chiefs and their departmental secre-
taries. Finally, the meeting adjourned 
with grudging agreement to create an 
ad hoc committee to review the four 
directives.58

The details of the IAB discussion 
are critical to understanding what 
would eventually, in early December, 
lead to a resolution of the issue. 
The ad hoc committee formed on 
November 20 produced a set of direc-
tives for the DCI and CIA that were 
either fully or partially unacceptable 
to Hillenkoetter.59 The DCI notified 
the IAB ad hoc committee of his dis-
agreement on November 25, 1947.60 
With the NSC session set for the fol-
lowing day, the DCI received a mem-
orandum from Secretary of the Army 
Kenneth Royall. Royall expressed 

disagreement with Hillenkoetter’s 
appointment of the subcommittee to 
draft the NSC directives on the DCI 
and CIA. He recommended the DCI 
himself draft a charter for the suc-
cessor to the IAB.61 Royall sought to 
perpetuate the defunct CIG struc-
ture against the wishes of the White 
House, Souers, and Hillenkoetter. 
The implementation of the reformed 
national security structure again stood 
at an impasse.

Overcoming this stalemate re-
quired dislodging the entrenched op-
position. The break came in a meeting 
Forrestal called in early December 
1947.62 There, Hillenkoetter appealed 
to Forrestal to intervene with the 
Departments of Army and Navy over 
the authority of the DCI offered in 
Royall’s memo. Whether on his own 
initiative or at the urging of Souers 
and the White House, Forrestal and 
Souers were in attendance with the 
secretaries of the Army, Navy, and 
Air Force, their intelligence chiefs, a 
State Department representative, and 
Hillenkoetter. Darling’s account held 
that Forrestal let Hillenkoetter present 
his vision of the authority of the 
DCI and CIA. Forrestal then turned 
to the secretaries of the Army and 
Navy without offering any opportu-
nity for a response and ordered them 
to run things the way Hillenkoetter 
described.63 Forrestal compelled the 
armed forces to install the DCI and 
CIA authorities as a fait d’accompli. 
By using the authority of his position, 
Forrestal effectively “pulled rank” 
and left his military service leaders 
no recourse. It helped that he had the 
backing of the White House, repre-
sented that day by Souers.

Just before the meeting, Forrestal 
had received a memo about the 
confusion the battle over DCI and 

The details of the IAB discussion are critical to under-
standing what would eventually, in early December, lead 
to a resolution of the issue. 
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CIA authorities had created among 
US intelligence organizations. 
Vannevar Bush, the director of the 
Joint Research and Development 
Board and chief adviser to Forrestal 
on scientific matters, highlighted 
the likely inability of CIA to answer 
questions from the joint congressio-
nal committee on atomic energy.a, 64 
Bush believed that “Souers probably 
should be alerted and that the [NSC] 
ought soon to pass on some of the 
policy questions involved.”65

Bush’s concerns came from Ralph 
Clark, the director of his Programs 
Division. Clark wrote to Bush about 
his December 3, 1947 meeting with 
officers from CIA, the AEC, and State 
Department. One stark issue con-
fronting the coordination of atomic 
energy intelligence was the need for 
a clear delineation of CIA’s relation-
ships with other agencies to facilitate 
the production of intelligence anal-
ysis. Perhaps more to the point was 
the note from chief of the Intelligence 
Section David Beckler on December 
2, 1947, which addressed concerns 
about atomic energy intelligence in 
the AEC intelligence division:

…the present confusion is caus-
ing considerable embarrassment 
to the newly created Intelligence 
Division of the AEC, and greatly 
impedes its operations. Since 
the directives as finally decid-
ed upon may affect the nature 
and scope of AEC intelligence 
operations, the Army, Navy, 
and Air Departments as well as 
CIA—while agreeing in princi-
ple to cooperation with AEC—
are deferring actual exchange of 

a. Forrestal participated with Bush in the 
Joint Committee on Atomic Energy in the 
morning, followed by a private meeting in 
Forrestal’s office later in the afternoon.

information until the AEC-CIA 
relationship is crystallized.66

The confrontation between CIA, 
the armed services, and the State 
Department had taken its toll in an 
area of critical interest to the White 
House. The memo from Bush and 
Forrestal’s December meeting ended 
the fight over the authority of the DCI 
and CIA. 

On December 8, 1947, in a meet-
ing in the NSC the issue was put to 
rest. While no documentation is avail-
able on that meeting, Arthur Darling 
indicated that it went much like the 
one that took place in Forrestal’s 
office. Hillenkoetter opened the 
meeting by reading Vannevar Bush’s 
memo and ended with the armed 
forces reluctantly acquiescing to 
relegation of the IAB to a general 
advisory board.67 The outcome of the 
meeting laid the foundation for the 
DCI and CIA to operate outside of the 
oversight and guidance of the IAB 
and formally abolished the defunct 
IAB-CIG system. 

Winning CIA Authorities and 
Backing into Covert Action

The arguments in November 
and December 1947 allowed 
Hillenkoetter to establish the roles 
of the DCI and CIA over foreign 
clandestine intelligence collection. 
His vision aligned with that of the 
White House and had Souers’s 
support. Winning this battle estab-
lished the basis for CIA’s taking over 
the coordination of covert action. 
The evolution of CIA’s control over 
covert action thus came as part of the 

broader fight to clarify CIA’s author-
ities within the intentionally vague 
language of the National Security Act 
of 1947. 

For senior State Department and 
military officials, the language of the 
legislation and restrictions on peace-
time psychological operations led to 
confusion over what office would be 
given the authority to conduct such 
operations and to receive the needed 
resources. In mid-October 1947, the 
SANACC had proposed the creation 
of a psychological warfare organiza-
tion to work under the direction of 
the NSC. It suggested the organiza-
tion be led by a director appointed 
by the president. The director 
would also chair a policy planning 
board composed of representatives 
from the JCS, CIG, and the armed 
services.68 In addition, the SANACC 
recommended that determination of 
missions be left up to the NSC and 
SANACC.69 Hillenkoetter agreed to 
the plan on October 22, 1947, backed 
by Houston’s legal guidance.70 

Souers had a somewhat different 
view of the subject. On October 24, 
1947, he sent a memorandum to 
Forrestal referencing a “very per-
suasive and accurate appraisal” he 
had received—from Secretary of 
Commerce Averell Harriman—re-
garding the need for “psychological 
warfare” operations to push back 
against “Soviet-inspired” propaganda 
in Europe. Souers wrote that a simple 
solution to the question of what orga-
nization should lead the effort was the 
assignment of “covert activities to the 
Central Intelligence Agency, since it 
already has contacts and communica-
tions with appropriate organizations 

On the same day, CIA Deputy Director Edwin Wright out-
lined his objections to the SANACC proposal in a memo-
randum to Hillenkoetter. 
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and agents in foreign countries.” 
Souers noted that he understood the 
SANACC intended officially to send 
its proposal to the NSC.71 

Upon receiving the SANACC 
memo, dated November 3, Souers’s 
assistant, James Lay, forwarded the 
memo to Souers with a long cov-
ering memo to Souers in which he 
wrote that the plan was not practical 
because it crossed over into CIA’s 
statutory authorities.72 Meanwhile, 
Forrestal discussed the SANACC 
proposal with his leadership on 
November 4, 1947, noting that the 
secretaries of defense and state were 
to discuss propaganda issues rather 
than a committee or the NSC. He 
made no mention of the CIA’s role.73 

On the same day, CIA Deputy 
Director Edwin Wright outlined his 
objections to the SANACC proposal 
in a memorandum to Hillenkoetter. 
Wright noted that the plan created 
another committee layer and the 
nucleus of yet another intelligence or-
ganization. Wright, citing his ongoing 
dialogue with Donovan, suggested a 
division between “black” (covert) and 
“white” (overt) propaganda. The lat-
ter he suggested should be headed by 
a civilian director, “the chairman of a 
Planning and Policy board composed 
of representatives of the Departments 
of State, Army, Navy, Air, the Central 
Intelligence Agency” and any other 
necessary government offices.74

Wright’s memo included as an 
annex an account of a meeting with 
Donovan that he’d had not long 
before. Donovan, Wright wrote, 
recommended that the director of the 

propaganda effort be appointed by the 
president and identified as a special 
assistant to the secretary of defense. 
but it should be understood that this 
officer was actually under the opera-
tional control of the DCI. Moreover, 
Donovan believed both “black” and 
“white” propaganda should take place 
under the sole purview of the DCI.75 
In contrast, the SANACC plan placed 
propaganda efforts under the control 
of the undersecretary of state and rel-
egated the CIA to a support role, that 
of providing the State Department the 
necessary intelligence.76 

The SANACC psychological 
warfare plan was discussed in the 
NSC’s second meeting on November 
14, 1947. The minutes of that meet-
ing noted that Secretary of State 
George Marshall objected to use 
of the word “warfare” in connec-
tion with psychological operations; 
Secretary Royall, speaking for 
Defense Secretary Forrestal and Air 
Force Secretary Stuart Symington, 
said that the “Military Establishment 
did not believe that it should have a 
part in those [psychological opera-
tions]; and the security council staff 
was ordered to revise the SANACC 
proposal “in the light of comments at 
the meeting.”77 

As the NSC staff focused on 
revisions to the SANACC proposal, 
DDCI Wright found “very alarming” 
a proposal that had been made to 
place an armed forces panel within 
CIA to ensure “close cooperation” of 
psychological efforts abroad. Wright 
warned in a December 2 memo that 
to “sabotage” the principle that CIA 
must be “the sole agency to conduct 

organized foreign clandestine oper-
ations” sowed the seeds of “chaos” 
[emphasis in the original]; CIA 
determined best how to disseminate 
propaganda he concluded.78 Wright 
wrote his strongly worded memo just 
a week before the December meeting 
in Forrestal’s office that ended the de-
bate about CIA covert action authori-
ties within the armed services. 

Settlement of the issue more 
broadly took place in the NSC 
on December 12, 1947, putting 
in place the final piece leading to 
CIA’s receipt of the mandate for 
covert action. Executive Secretary 
Souers, through two memos to NSC 
members prepared the members for 
discussion of two documents: NSC 
4 (“REPORT BY THE NSC ON 
COORDINATION OF FOREIGN 
INFORMATION MEASURES”) 
and NSC 4-A (“PSYCHOLOGICAL 
OPERATIONS”—a draft directive to 
DCI Hillenkoetter). The documents 
followed Souers’s logic and divided 
responsibilities for psychological 
operations and reaffirmed CIA’s 
mandate over foreign clandestine 
operations, both collection and covert 
action. 

In NSC 4, the council recom-
mended that State take on the role 
of coordinating overt information 
efforts:

Para 8.a. The Secretary of State 
should be charged with formu-
lating policies for and coordi-
nating the implementation of all 
information measures designed 
to influence attitudes in foreign 
countries in a direction favor-
able to the attainment of US ob-
jectives and to counteract effects 
of anti-US propaganda.79 

Settlement of the issue more broadly took place in the 
NSC on December 12, 1947, putting in place the final 
piece leading to CIA’s receipt of the mandate for covert 
action. 
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The draft directive to Hillenkoetter 
contained in NSC 4-A followed 
closely the language Souers used with 
Forrestal in his October 1947 memo.

2. The similarity of operation-
al methods involved in covert 
psychological and intelligence 
activities and the need to ensure 
their secrecy and obviate costly 
duplication renders the [CIA] 
the logical agency to conduct 
such operations.

With a nod to DDCI Wright’s 
concern about attempts at oversight 
by the armed services, the NSC noted 
that nothing in the recommendation 
should be construed as a requirement 
for the CIA to disclose its “secret 
techniques, sources, or contacts.” 80

The decision to assign CIA the 
covert action mission derived from 
the interpretation of the National 
Security Act of 1947 by White House 
advisers on the NSC, including 
Souers and Lay.81 The position taken 
by Souers and Lay reflected what 
Clifford claimed was the intention 
with respect to covert action when the 
legislation passed in July 1947. That 
interpretation clashed with the legal 
advice Hillenkoetter received from 
CIA General Counsel Houston. While 
agreeing in principle to Houston’s as-
sessment that issues of covert action 
should go to Congress for approval, 
White House advisers pressed the 
exigent need for efforts to counter 
Soviet propaganda. They concluded 
the vague language of the National 
Security Act of 1947 permitted the 
NSC to assign responsibility for co-
vert action to the CIA predicated on 
the NSC having the statutory author-
ity to expand CIA’s duties. Whatever 
private misgivings Hillenkoetter 
may have had about CIA taking over 

covert action, he took on the respon-
sibility without complaint.

Souers’s Role and Influence in 
the National Security Structure

The role Souers played in the 
evolution of DCI and CIA author-
ities illustrated the importance of 
key officials in the institutional 
development of the national security 
structure. Souers embodied the ideal 
of conciliatory leadership operating 
behind the scenes to bridge the gaps 
amidst bureaucratic turf wars. As 
Vandenberg had shown, confrontation 
worked only to a limited extent, in 
part, because of the weakness of the 
intelligence organization within the 
broader national security structure. 

At the same time, Souers appre-
ciated the need to confront senior 
officials who impeded the progress of 
developing the nascent intelligence 
apparatus. Conciliation had its place 
except in periods of impasse when 
the very leaders entrusted to imple-
ment institutional reforms were the 
primary obstacles to change. The 
confrontation between Forrestal and 
his subordinate commanders exem-
plified an optimal time to exert the 
full authority of the new Office of the 
Secretary of Defense. 

All the while, Souers sought to 
avoid critical missteps by maintain-
ing open lines of communication 
between officials that mattered the 
most in this process. By leveraging 
his power network, Souers was able 
to steer discussions, frame fights, and 

influence decisionmaking in favor of 
the president and the DCI.

Yet the DCI did not get every-
thing he wanted. Was Hillenkoetter a 
pawn? Souers spoke derisively about 
Hillenkoetter in the 1960s, describing 
him as a “disaster” as DCI and noting 
that he should never have been ap-
pointed to the position.82 Admittedly, 
Hillenkoetter was an outsider to the 
political gamesmanship required 
in Washington. He had neither the 
experience nor the political clout of 
officials like Souers and Forrestal. 

Indeed, Hillenkoetter  may well 
have been the weakest DCI:83 he 
did not launch large initiatives and 
tended to navigate around confron-
tation when possible. Souers had 
clearly leveraged Hillenkoetter after 
having established an early working 
relationship with him. Referring 
to Hillenkoetter as Souers’s pawn, 
however, may be a bit too strong. 
Hillenkoetter fought for the mandates 
of the DCI and CIA in the critical 
showdown in the fall of 1947. He 
merely ended up with more than he 
bargained for when the CIA was also 
given the authority for covert psy-
chological operations. The ability to 
maneuver Hillenkoetter demonstrated 
Souers’s political savvy; his manipu-
lation of Forrestal, however, under-
scored his mastery of bureaucratic 
gamesmanship.

Souers’s effectiveness came from 
his ability to work well with powerful 
individuals and spot avenues to ob-
tain smaller victories before marching 
into protracted conflicts. His ability 
to manuever rested on the power 

Souers’s effectiveness came from his ability to work well 
with powerful individuals and spot avenues to obtain 
smaller victories before marching into protracted con-
flicts. 
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that came from his network of 
contacts. Initially, Forrestal was 
central to how Souers vaulted 
into a position of authority that 
garnered Truman’s respect. 
He also recommended Souers 
to be the executive secretary 
of the newly created NSC, an 
outcome that would undermine 
Forrestal’s attempts to shape 
the NSC structure. Once in the 
NSC, Souers became a critical 
node in constructing the national 
security system according to the 
president’s vision. Yet Forrestal’s 
meeting with armed forces heads 
in early December 1947 was criti-
cal to overcoming resistance to the 
change in the power dynamic of the 
intelligence system—a change that 
did not reflect Forrestal’s preference 
for how the NSC and CIA operated 
with respect to the armed forces. The 
only White House representative at 
that fateful meeting was Souers, and 
the views of the president trumped all 
other disagreements.

The key to understanding how 
these events played out was Souers’s 
direct communication and regular 
contacts with the White House. 
Counsel Clifford remained one 
of Souers’s most crucial contacts 
other than the president himself. 
Clifford and Souers wrote the 1946 
Presidential Directive that created the 

CIG.84 There seems little reason to 
doubt that as DCI, Souers operated 
in lockstep with the White House 
because he knew exactly what the 
president wanted. 

Likewise, when the CIG system 
proved to be impractical, it was no 
wonder that Souers emerged again to 
facilitate the reform of the national 
security structure. Between 1946 
and 1947, Souers maintained a close 
connection with Clifford, who joined 
Souers in critical meetings on intel-
ligence and worked with Souers on 
preparation of the National Security 
Act of 1947. 

Souers carried that effort one step 
further when the NSC enumerated 
the DCI’s and CIA’s authorities, 
to include covert action. Through 

Clifford, Souers retained in-
sight into the president’s plans 
and preferences. Any doubt as 
to Souers’s work on behalf of 
Truman in creating the CIA 
can be dispelled with the letter 
Souers wrote to Truman in 1963. 
Lamenting CIA’s activities in the 
1960s and subsequent scandals, 
Souers acknowledged that he 
had attempted to build a CIA for 
Truman that was vastly different 
from the one that came to exist 
in 1963.85

How CIA gained authority to 
conduct covert action is significant. 
The DCI did not want it, Donovan 
wanted control over all aspects of 
propaganda, and Houston believed 
CIA needed congressional approval 
for each covert action activity. The 
CIA did not win any of these battles. 
The reason the CIA ended up with 
covert action authority was because 
the White House needed to address 
the existential threat presented by 
the Soviet Union and covert action 
was one part of the broader contain-
ment strategy. For that reason, quiet 
warriors like Souers worked behind 
the scenes to include covert action. 
The question was not how popular 
covert action operations were but 
rather what was needed to protect US 
interests, a testament to the enduring 
ethos of the CIA from its inception.

v v v
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In 1952, President Truman awarded Souers the Distin-
guished Service Medal. The two also exchanged portraits 
of themselves with affectionate inscriptions to one another. 
White House photo.



﻿

The Quiet Warrior

﻿Studies in Intelligence Vol. 65, No. 2 (Extracts, June 2021) 15

Endnotes
1. X, “The Sources of Soviet Conduct,” Foreign Affairs, 25, 4 (July 1947): 566–82, described further in David Mayers. 
“Containment and the Primacy of Diplomacy: George Kennan’s Views, 1947–1948,” International Security, 11, 1 (1986): 
124–62.
2. Amy Zegart, Flawed by Design: The Evolution of the CIA, JCS, and NSC (Stanford University Press, 1999); Christopher 
Andrew, For the President’s Eyes Only: Secret Intelligence and the American Presidency from Washington to Bush (Harper-
Collins, 1995), 149–98.
3. Richard Schroeder, The Foundation of the CIA: Harry Truman, the Missouri Gang, and the Origins of the Cold War 
(University of Missouri Press, 2017). 
4. David Rudgers, Creating the Secret State: The Origins of the Central Intelligence Agency, 1943–1947 (University of Kan-
sas Press, 2000), 37–45, 131–35.
5. Ibid., 64.
6. Arthur Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency: Instrument of Government, to 1950 (Historical Staff of the CIA: De-
cember 1953); available at file:///D:/Souers%20Article/Darling%20History%20of%20CIA.pdf.
7. Foreign Relations of the United States, 1945–1950, Emergence of the Intelligence Establishment. 64. Memorandum from 
the Deputy Director of Naval Intelligence (Souers) to Clark M. Clifford, December 27, 1945, emphasis in the original 
memorandum, available at https://history.state.gov/historicaldocuments/frus1945-50Intel/d64. FRUS, 1945–1950, 64. 
(Hereafter, references to FRUS, 1945–1950 will be rendered FRUS, 1945–1950, document #. Title of document. URLs 
will not be provided in future citations. Readers may follow the URL above to other entries by simply changing the doc-
ument number at the end of the URL.)
8. Rudgers, Creating the Secret State, 109–112; Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 231–312.
9. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 497, 499.
10. Richard Weber (ed), Spymasters: Ten CIA Officers in Their Own Words (Scholarly Resources, Inc., 1999), 7; available 
at https://books.google.com/books?id=5UM5Z2yarWkC&lpg=PA1&dq=sidney%20souers%20biography&pg=PA3#v=o-
nepage&q=sidney%20souers%20biography&f=false.
11. William Henhoeffer and James Hanrahan, “Notes on the Early DCIs: Souers Speaks Out,” Studies in Intelligence 33, 
no 2 (Spring 1989): 29; Weber, Spymasters, 3.
12. Henhoeffer and Hanrahan, “Notes on the Early DCIs,” 29.
13. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 210–13.
14. FRUS, 1945–1950, 64, Memorandum from the Deputy Director of Naval Intelligence (Souers) to Clark M. Clifford, 
December 27, 1945, emphasis in the original memorandum. 
15. FRUS, 1945–1950, 54, Memorandum from Secretary of State Byrnes to Secretary of War Patterson and Secretary of 
the Navy Forrestal, December 10, 1945.
16. Darling. The Central Intelligence Agency, 210–13.
17. President Harry S. Truman’s daily calendar on January 9, 1946; available at https://www.trumanlibrary.gov.
18. Weber, Spymasters, 4; FRUS, 1945–1950, 69. Memorandum by the Director of the Bureau of the Budget (Smith), 
January 9, 1946.
19. FRUS, 1945–1950, 69. 
20. Weber, Spymasters, 4.
21. Footnote 2 in FRUS, 1945–1950, 69.
22. FRUS, 1945–1950, 70. Memorandum from the Director of the Bureau of the Budget (Smith) to the President’s Special 
Counsel (Rosenman), January 10, 1946.
23. Souers interview in Weber, Spymasters, 4.
24. Truman’s daily calendar on January 12, 1946. 
25. FRUS, 1945–1950, 71. Presidential Directive on Coordination of Foreign Intelligence Activities, January 22, 1947.
26. Clark Clifford Oral History, April 19, 1971 by Jerry N. Ness, 130; available at https://www.trumanlibrary.gov/library/
oral-histories/cliford1.
27. Rudgers, Creating the Secret State, 109–27.

file:///D:/Souers%20Article/Darling%20History%20of%20CIA.pdf
https://www.trumanlibrary.gov/library/oral-histories/cliford1
https://www.trumanlibrary.gov/library/oral-histories/cliford1


﻿

The Quiet Warrior

﻿16 Studies in Intelligence Vol. 65, No. 2 (Extracts, June 2021)

28. FRUS, 1945–1950, 162. Memorandum from the Director of Central Intelligence (Vandenberg) to the National Intel-
ligence Authority, August 13, 1947.
29. Footnote 1 in FRUS, 1945–1950, 164. Telegram from the President’s Chief of Staff (Leahy) to President Truman, 
August 21, 1946.
30. FRUS, 1945–1950, 185. Minutes of the 9th Meeting of the National Intelligence Authority, February 12, 1947
31. FRUS, 1945–1950, 194. National Intelligence Authority Directive No. 9, April 18, 1947.
32. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 667, 669.
33. Rear Admiral Roscoe H. Hillenkoetter Diary, 71; available at https://www.cia.gov/library/readingroom/docs/1947-
04-09a.pdf.
34. Ibid., 670, 672.
35. Ibid., 77–124.
36. Ibid, 54.
37. The Hearings Before the Committee on Expenditures in the Executive Departments, House of Representatives, 1947, 
728; available at https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=umn.31951d03603976d&view=1up&seq=3.
38. Hillenkoetter Diary, 137–38, 145.
39. The initial clash in views can be found in Forrestal’s overview of his first meeting about the NSC shortly after he was 
sworn in as Secretary of Defense; available in James V. Forrestal Papers, Vol. VIII 1947, Box 150, Folder 17, Public Policy 
Papers, Department of Rare Books and Special Collections, Princeton University Library, September 26, 1947, 1839. 
The explanation of the differences of opinion are also found in J. Larsen and E. Mahan, Establishing the Secretary’s Role: 
James Forrestal (National Defense University Press, 2011), 9–10; Admiral Sidney Souers testimony on May 10, 1960 in 
the Hearings Before the Subcommittee on National Policy Machinery of the Committee on Government Operations, United 
States Senate, Volume 1 (Government Printing Office, 1961): 562; Clark Clifford, Counsel to the President (Random 
House, 1991), 162–64.
40. Hearings Before the Subcommittee on National Policy Machinery, 561, 572.
41. Andrew, For the President’s Eyes Only, 169.
42. Hillenkoetter Diary, 175.
43. FRUS, 1945–1950, 222. Memorandum from the Director of Central Intelligence (Hillenkoetter) to the National 
Security Council, September 19, 1947; FRUS, 1945–1950, 223. Memorandum From the Director of Central Intelligence 
(Hillenkoetter) to the National Security Council, September 19, 1947.
44. FRUS, 1945–1950, 220. Memorandum from the Director of Central Intelligence (Hillenkoetter) to the National Intel-
ligence Authority, September 11, 1947.
45. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 600, 606–607.
46. FRUS, 1945–1950, 225. Minutes of the First Meeting of the National Security Council, September 26, 1947.
47. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 612.
48. See para 7 in FRUS, 1945–1950, 71. Presidential Directive on Coordination of Foreign Intelligence Activities.
49. Schroeder, Foundation of the CIA, 90.
50. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 234.
51. Hillenkoetter Diary, 224.
52. FRUS. 244. Memorandum from the Director of Central Intelligence Hillenkoetter to the State-Army-Navy-Air Force 
Coordinating Committee, October 22, 1947.
53. FRUS, 1945–1950, 241. Memorandum from the General Counsel of the Central Intelligence Agency (Houston) to 
Director of Central Intelligence Agency Hillenkoetter, September 25, 1947.
54. Hillenkoetter Diary, 233, 235.
55. Clark Clifford Oral History, March 23, 1973 by Jerry N. Ness, 21; available at https://www.trumanlibrary.gov/library/
oral-histories/cliford1. Further discussed in Clifford, Counsel to the President, 153, 158.
56. Clark Clifford Oral History, April 19, 1971 interview with Jerry N. Ness, 114–17; available at https://www.truman-
library.gov/library/oral-histories/cliford3#11. Forrestal’s change of heart between 1947 and 1948 is outlined further in 
Clifford, Counsel to the President, 160–62.
57. FRUS. 332. Minutes of a Meeting of the National Intelligence Board, November 20, 1947.
58. Ibid.
59. Footnote 2 in FRUS, 1945–1950, 334. Memorandum from the Executive Secretary (Souers) to the National Security 

https://www.cia.gov/library/readingroom/docs/1947-04-09a.pdf
https://www.cia.gov/library/readingroom/docs/1947-04-09a.pdf
https://www.trumanlibrary.gov/library/oral-histories/cliford1
https://www.trumanlibrary.gov/library/oral-histories/cliford1


﻿

The Quiet Warrior

﻿Studies in Intelligence Vol. 65, No. 2 (Extracts, June 2021) 17

Council, December 10, 1947.
60. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 630.
61. FRUS, 1945–1950, 230. Memorandum from the Secretary of the Army (Royall) to the Executive Secretary of the 
National Security Council (Souers), November 26, 1947.
62. James V. Forrestal Papers, Vol. IX 1947, Box 151, Folder 2, Public Policy Papers, Department of Rare Books and Spe-
cial Collections, Princeton University Library, December 9, 1947, 1968.
63. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 631–33.
64. James V. Forrestal Papers, Vol. IX 1947, Box 151, Folder 2, Public Policy Papers, Department of Rare Books and 
Special Collections, Princeton University Library, December 5, 1947, 1963–1965. Forrestal also had a close working 
relationship with Bush, in whom he placed considerable trust and leading him to recommend Bush for his directorship, 
in Forrestal Papers, Vol. IX 1947, Box 151, Folder 2, 1835.
65. FRUS, 1945–1950, 333. Memorandum From the Chairman of the Research and Development Board (Bush) to Secre-
tary of Defense Forrestal, December 5, 1947.
66. Enclosure from Beckler, in FRUS, 1945–1950, 333. 
67. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 636–37.
68. FRUS, 1945–1950, 242. Memorandum from the Secretary of the State-Army-Navy-Air Force Coordinating Commit-
tee (Moseley) to the Undersecretary of State (Lovett), October 15, 1947.
69. FRUS, 1945–1950, 243. Memorandum by the Army Member of the State-Army-Navy-Air Force Coordinating Com-
mittee, undated.
70. FRUS, 1945–1950, 244. Memorandum from the Director of Central Intelligence Hillenkoetter to the State-Army-Na-
vy-Air Force Committee, October 22, 1947.
71. FRUS, 1945–1950, 245. Memorandum from the Executive Secretary of the National Security Council (Souers) to the 
Secretary of Defense (Forrestal), October 24, 1947.
72. FRUS, 1945–1950, 246. Memorandum from the Assistant Executive Secretary (Lay) to the Executive Secretary of the 
National Security Council (Souers), November 3, 1947.
73. James V. Forrestal Papers, Vol. IX 1947, Box 151, Folder 1.
74. FRUS, 1945–1950, 247. Memorandum from the Deputy Director (Wright) to the Director of Central Intelligence 
(Hillenkoetter), November 4, 1947.
75. FRUS, 1945–1950, 247, Annex 1 entitled, “Psychological Warfare.”
76. FRUS, 1945–1950, 249. Report by an Ad Hoc Subcommittee of the State-Army-Navy-Air Force Coordinating Commit-
tee, November 7, 1947.
77. FRUS, 1945–1950, 250 Memorandum of Discussion of the 2d Meeting of the National Security Council, November 
14, 1947.
78. FRUS, 1945–1950, 251. Memorandum from the Deputy Director of Central Intelligence (Wright) to the Chief of the 
Interagency Coordinating and Planning Staff, The Central Intelligence Agency (Childs), December 2, 1947.
79. FRUS, 1945–1950, 252. Memorandum from the Executive Secretary (Souers) to the Members of the National Securi-
ty Council, December 9, 1947.
80. FRUS, 1945–1950, 253. Memorandum from the Executive Secretary (Souers) to the Members of the National Securi-
ty Council, December 9, 1947.
81. Darling, The Central Intelligence Agency, 725.
82. Henhofer and Hanrahan, “Notes on the Early DCIs,” 32.
83. Andrews, For the President’s Eyes Only, 170.
84. FRUS, 1945–1950, 137, Memorandum from the Director of Central Intelligence (Souers to the National Intelligence 
Authority, “Proposed Tentative Operation of the Central Intelligence Group,” February 2, 1966; FRUS, 1945–1950, 138, 
“Minutes of the First Meeting of the Intelligence Advisory Board,” February 4, 1946. 
85. David Rudgers, “The Origins of Covert Action,” Journal of Contemporary History, 35, 2 (2000): 260.

v v v




